

# Clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of colon (C18) and rectosigmoid junction (C19) cancer

Piotr Potemski<sup>1</sup>, Krzysztof Bujko<sup>2</sup>, Andrzej Rutkowski<sup>3</sup>, Maciej Krzakowski<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Chemotherapy Department, Medical University of Lodz, Nicolaus Copernicus Memorial Multidisciplinary Centre for Oncology and Traumatology, Lodz, Poland

<sup>2</sup>Department of Teleradiotherapy, The Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Warsaw, Poland

<sup>3</sup>Department of Gastroenterological Oncology, The Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Warsaw, Poland

<sup>4</sup>Department of Lung and Thoracic Cancer, The Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Warsaw, Poland

Key words: colon cancer, rectosigmoid junction cancer, guidelines, diagnostics, treatment

## **Table of contents**

1. Methodological notes	
2. Epidemiology	
3. Diagnostic tests required for diagnosis and staging	
4. Staging	
5. Therapeutic management	184
5.1. Recommendations for surgical treatment	184
5.2. Recommendations for radiation therapy	187
5.3. Recommendations for systemic therapy	187
6. Post-treatment follow-up	190
7. Diagnostic and therapeutic management in special cases	191
7.1. Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP)	191
7.2. Hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer (HNPCC)	191
7.3. Cancer in a colon polyp	191
7.4. Colon cancer with synchronous, unresectable distant metastases	192
References	192

## **1. Methodological notes**

Guidelines developed on the basis of recommendations published between 2012 and 2019 by:

- French Research Group of Rectal Cancer Surgery (GRECCAR);
- French National Society of Coloproctology (SNFCP);
- European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO);
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN);
- European CanCer Organisation (ECCO);
- Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland (ACPGBI).

The authors always tried to relate individual recommendations to the published recommendations, taking into account the source publication and (where possible) the grades of recommendations and the levels of evidence, according to the following criteria.

## Levels of evidence

- *I* Evidence from at least one large randomized, controlled trial of good methodological quality (low potential for bias) or meta-analyses of well-conducted randomized trials without heterogeneity.
- II Small randomized trials or large randomized trials with suspicion of bias (lower methodological quality) or meta-analyses of such trials or trials with demonstrated heterogeneity.

Translation: dr n. med. Dariusz Stencel

Oncology in Clinical Practice, 2020, Vol. 16, No. 4, 183–193, DOI: 10.5603/OCP.2020.0030, Copyright © 2020 Via Medica, ISSN 2450–1654

- III Prospective cohort studies.
- IV Retrospective cohort studies or case-control studies.
- V Studies without a control group, case reports, experts opinions.

Grades of recommendations

- *A* Strong evidence for efficacy with a substantial clinical benefit strongly recommended.
- *B* Strong or moderate evidence for efficacy but with a limited clinical benefit generally recommended.
- *C* Insufficient evidence for efficacy or benefit does not outweigh the risk or the disadvantages (adverse events, costs) optional.
- D Moderate evidence against efficacy or for adverse outcome generally not recommended.
- *E* Strong evidence against efficacy or for adverse outcome never recommended.

## 2. Epidemiology

In recent years, malignant neoplasms of the colon and rectosigmoid junction are diagnosed in approximately 12,500 people per year, and the number of deaths is approximately 8,500. Whilst there is continuous increase in morbidity and mortality in the male population, in women the increase in mortality has been halted and has remained stable for over a decade despite the increasing morbidity [1].

## **3. Diagnostic tests required** for diagnosis and staging

- Colonoscopy (up to and including the caecum) with the collection of tumor specimens and/or removal of the polyp/polyps; NCCN [2]; ECCO [3]; ESMO [4]; GRECCAR/SNFCP (III) [5].
- Computed tomography (CT) of the abdomen and pelvis; NCCN; ECCO; ESMO (III, A).
- Chest X-ray (CT of the chest in case of doubtful X-ray findings); NCCN; ECCO; ESMO (III, A).
- Determination of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) level; NCCN; ESMO (III, A).
- Basic laboratory panel (complete blood count [CBC], creatinine, bilirubin, protein concentrations, aspartate aminotransferase [AST], alanine aminotransferase [ALT], alkaline phosphatase [ALP] levels) — to assess organ function (III, A).

In individual cases, an abdominal ultrasound (US) could be a valuable addition to the above-mentioned diagnostic workout. It is not recommended to routinely perform positron emission tomography (PET) within the initial diagnosis, as false-positive results may be caused by sigmoid diverticulosis or inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). However, this examination may be helpful in the diagnosis of distant metastases, when the previously performed imaging tests (CT, magnetic resonance imaging [MRI], US) do not allow to establish the stage of disease. In addition, PET is performed in the diagnosis of cancer

relapse in patients with increased CEA level without visible changes in other tests that may correspond to local and/or generalized recurrence.

### 4. Staging

Staging is based on the 8<sup>th</sup> edition of the TNM (tumor, node, metastasis) classification (2017). Details are presented in Tables 1 and 2.

## 5. Therapeutic management

The recommended therapeutic management in colon cancer patients is based on staging (Fig. 1).

5.1. Recommendations for surgical treatment

The surgical treatment guidelines are based on the recommendations of the National Consultant in the field of oncological surgery and the Polish Society of Surgical Oncology.

• **cT1–4 N0–2 M0** — a segmental bowel colon with the tumor and the regional lymphatic system of the relevant bowel segment should be performed.

ESMO; NCCN; ECCO

#### **Recommendations:**

- the extent of the colon cancer resection depends on the site of the primary tumor;
- the minimal number of regional lymph nodes that should be retrieved following colon resection is 12;
- minimal resection margins assessed on a fresh specimen before (proximal) and behind (distal) the tumor should be 5 cm;
- in the case of a tumor that infiltrates other organs through the continuity (cT4b), "en bloc" resection should be performed without dissection of the infiltrate;
- laparoscopic resections of colon cancer should now be considered as a standard surgical method, with

#### Table 1. TNM classification; colorectal cancer

Primar	y tumor
ТΧ	Primary tumor cannot be assessed
т0	No evidence of primary tumor
Tis	Carcinoma <i>in situ —</i> involving lamina propria
T1	Tumor invades submucosa
Т2	Tumor invades muscularis propria
Т3	Tumor invades visceral peritoneum, and in places without it — pericolorectal tissues
T4	Tumor invades through the visceral peritoneum and continues into adjacent anatomical structures and/or causes perforation of the visceral peritoneum
T4a	Tumor invades through the visceral peritoneum and causes perforation of the visceral peritoneum
T4b	Tumor invades through the visceral peritoneum and continues into adjacent anatomical structures
Regior	al lymph nodes
NX	Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed
N0	No regional lymph node metastasis
N1	Metastasis in 1–3 regional lymph nodes
N1a	Metastasis in 1 regional lymph node
N1b	Metastasis in 2–3 regional lymph nodes
N1c	Tumor deposit(s)
N2	Metastasis in 4 or more regional lymph node
N2a	Metastasis in 4–6 regional lymph node
N2b	Metastasis in 7 or more regional lymph node
Distan	t metastasis
M0	No distant metastasis
M1	Distant metastasis is identified
M1a	Distant metastasis is identified, however, confined to 1 organ or site (e.g. extra-regional lymph node)
M1b	Distant metastasis to two or more sites or organs is identified
M1c	Distant metastasis to the peritoneal surface alone or with other site or organ metastases

		Tis	T1	T2	Т3	T4a	T4b					
N0 M0		0	I		IIA	IIB	IIC					
N1 M0	N1a		IIIA		III	IIIC						
	N1b											
	N1c											
N2 M0	N2a	IIL	A		В							
	N2b		IIIB		111							
	M1a	IVA										
M1	M1b	IVB										
	M1c	IVC										

#### Table 2. TNM stages; colorectal cancer

the oncological outcomes comparable to classic laparotomy. However, laparoscopic resection is allowed only in centers with sufficiently extensive experience.
cM1 (pTNM IV) — surgical treatment of stage IV colon cancer should always be individualized.

## **Recommendations:**

 in liver metastases, the possibility of radical excision (R0) should be considered, usually as sequential treatment with pre- or postoperative chemotherapy; ESMO (III, A); NCCN



Figure 1. Therapeutic management depending on the clinical (cTNM) and pathomorphological stage (pTNM)

- ablation of liver metastases can be performed in patients ineligible for resection. Current ineligibility criteria for metastasectomy are defined on the basis of post-resection liver parenchyma volume (30% and less) and the number of lesions (5 and more) as well as the coexistence of metastases in other organs [6];
- complex treatment of liver metastases is possible, including anatomic and non-anatomic liver resections and ablative methods (e.g. segment II and III resection and ablation of segment VII lesions);
- resections or ablation of single metastatic lesions in other organs (e.g. in the lung) may be considered, provided that the primary colon tumor and any secondary lesions (e.g. in the liver) can be completely resected or successfully ablated;
- in patients with carcinomatosis peritonei, the so-called Peritoneal Cancer Index (PCI) is used to assess the advancement of changes (Table 3). Each region of the peritoneal cavity can be scored between 0 and 3 points. Total PCI score is obtained by adding up points from all regions (Table 3). If the PCI score is < 20 points, qualification for cytore-ductive surgery in combination with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) may be considered ESMO (IV, B); NCCN. However, a randomized clinical trial (RCT) showed that in systemically treated patients underwent effective cytoreduction HIPEC did not affect the prognosis compared to surgery alone (II, E) [7].</li>

The 5-year survival rate in patients after radical resection of both the primary tumor and metastatic lesions in the liver ranges from 25–55%, while in patients in whom radical resection is not possible, it does not exceed 5%. The aim of surgical treatment of patients with disseminated colon cancer with the presence of unresectable distant metastases is to prolong the survival time. The management and its sequence (symptomatic treatment, chemotherapy-surgery, surgery-chemotherapy, chemotherapy alone) should be individualized depending on patient performance status (PS) and possible therapeutic benefits — ESMO; NCCN.

#### **Final remarks**

- In unresectable lesions, creating a stoma (ileostomy or colostomy) or bypass surgery should be considered.
- In case of an obstruction, resection (with anastomosis and/or stoma) or decompression-only surgery is possible. In the latter case, radical resection should always be considered after stabilization of the patient's general status.
- Radical tumor resection must include not only the cancerous colon segment with appropriate margins but also the entire area of regional lymphatic drainage. A detailed description of the topographic resection extent depending on tumor location is presented in oncological surgery textbooks ("Chirurgia onkologiczna", Vol. 3: PZWL 2019).

Table 3. Peritoneal Cancer Index													
Region of the	Lesion size score (LS)												
peritoneal cavity	LS = 0	LS = 1	LS = 2	LS = 3									
	(no tumor seen)	(tumor up to 0.5 cm)	(tumor up to 5 cm)	(tumor > 5 cm or confluence)									
Central													
Right upper													
Epigastrium													
Left upper													
Left flank													
Left lower													
Pelvis													
Right lower													
Right flank													
Upper jejunum													
Lower jejunum													
Upper ileum													
Lower ileum													
PCI		Total LS from a	all regions =										

- In the case of colon tumor resection, the decision to perform a simultaneous anastomosis depends on many factors related to cancer stage and patient general condition, the intraoperative assessment of the conditions necessary for the healing of anastomosis and surgeon's experience. Tumor resection and stoma creation do not exclude the technical possibility of restoring the continuity of the gastrointestinal tract in the second stage of surgical treatment.
- The decision regarding appropriate management depends on patient's general condition and tumor stage.

#### 5.2. Recommendations for radiation therapy

Both pre- and postoperative irradiation is not routinely used in colon cancer patients. A randomized study that compared postoperative irradiation combined with postoperative chemotherapy *versus* postoperative chemotherapy alone, showed no improvement in post-irradiation survival with greater toxicity. This is probably due to rare local recurrences as the only site of progressive disease; relapse is usually associated with distant metastases. In addition, a significant toxicity is caused by a large volume of small bowel to be irradiated.

Preoperative irradiation should be considered rarely, only in advanced cases. It could be justified by CT or MRI examination indicating extensive tumor infiltration, which limits the possibility of keeping surgical margins free or even makes complete resection impossible. An example is a sigmoid cancer, which extensively infiltrates the bladder or the sidewall of the pelvis near large vessels. Pre-operative irradiation results in tumor shrinkage, which in turn may enable R0 surgery. The irradiation area covers only visible neoplastic lesions with an appropriate margin but does not include the elective area of regional lymph nodes. Radio(chemo)therapy regimens are the same as in patients with rectal cancer. However, another possible option is the induction of chemotherapy (II, A) [8, 9].

There are rare indications for postoperative radio(chemo)therapy — only in the case of R2 resection with a small residual tumor or R1 surgery or a very close free surgical margin (less than 1 mm). In addition to classic irradiation regimens, stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) is also used.

#### 5.3. Recommendations for systemic therapy

### Adjuvant chemotherapy

#### Stage I

Due to the very good prognosis, adjuvant therapy should not be used, and observation is the standard of care (IV, E).

#### Stage II

The RCTs did not show any unquestionable effect of adjuvant chemotherapy on the improvement of prognosis. They usually included patients with a higher risk of recurrence and only a slight increase in 5-year disease-free survival rate (< 5 percentage points) was observed. Except for the QUASAR trial, which also enrolled patients with rectal cancer (increase in overall 5-year survival rate < 4 pp), there was no effect of adjuvant treatment on overall survival [10].

Therefore, adjuvant therapy should not be used in most patients, and observation remains the standard of care (II, D). Adjuvant chemotherapy using fluoropyrimidine for six months can be used in patients with high-risk factors for recurrence (presence of at least one of the following features: pT4 [pT4b category is generally considered sufficient to qualify for adjuvant treatment], the number of removed lymph nodes less than 12, high histological grade, perineural infiltration, intratumor vessels emboli, perforation or obstruction), however, factors related to the patient's contraindication (e.g. concomitant diseases or life expectancy) are equally important and should be also considered (II, B). The addition of oxaliplatin does not significantly increase the efficacy of adjuvant chemotherapy in stage II (II, D).

#### Stage III

Adjuvant treatment should be used in all patients without contraindications to chemotherapy because it prolongs disease-free survival and overall survival (I, A). Adjuvant treatment should be initiated as soon as possible after surgery, preferably within 4–6 weeks, because the greater the delay, the less the impact on prognosis improvement (IV, A). The only justification for delaying the initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy could be medical reasons (e.g. postoperative complications) (IV, B).

The 6-month chemotherapy with fluorouracil and calcium folinate or capecitabine significantly reduces the risk of relapse and increases overall survival rate (even by a dozen or so pp after 5 years) (I, A). Capecitabine was not shown to be more effective than fluorouracil and only a non-significant trend in favor of capecitabine was observed in phase III clinical trial [11].

The addition of oxaliplatin to a fluoropyrimidine (usually the FOLFOX or CAPOX regimen; the FLOX regimen is less frequently used due to toxicity) leads to significant (usually by a few pp) increase in long-term overall survival and such treatment should be the standard of care (I, A) [12, 13]. Another factor that may reduce the benefit of adding oxaliplatin is age over 65–70 years (II, C).

It has not been proven that a 3-month adjuvant therapy with oxaliplatin is non-inferior to standard 6-month therapy (I, D) [14]. The analysis of post hoc created subgroups of the IDEA study indicates that in patients with better prognosis (pT1–3, pN1) 3-month chemotherapy with the CAPOX regimen (instead of 6-month) can be used (II, B). In other patients, 6-month chemotherapy should be the standard treatment, and modifications of chemotherapy (including dose reduction or discontinuation of oxaliplatin) should be based on its toxicity (I, A). Irinotecan regimens have no advantage over fluoropyrimidine monotherapy, and anti-EGFR drugs and bevacizumab added to chemotherapy are ineffective in adjuvant postoperative treatment (I, E).

In patients receiving fluorouracil in prolonged infusions, the use of portable infusers allows shortening hospital stay (IV, A). However, access to a large vessel (the so-called vascular port) should be ensured beforehand to avoid local complications (peripheral phlebitis) associated with high levels of cytotoxic drug.

### **Palliative treatment**

### General remarks

In patients with metastatic colon cancer, it is essential to determine whether radical local treatment is possible, both in the primary lesion and with regard to metastases. Therefore, in many patients for whom local treatment is possible, it is necessary to obtain the opinion of a surgeon experienced in liver surgery or a thoracic surgeon, depending on metastases location. In such situations, local treatment is usually combined with systemic treatment and in some patients, it is possible to achieve long-term survival (IV, A).

Before starting systemic treatment, in addition to information on organ capacity (e.g. CBC, biochemical tests to assess the liver and kidney function), in patients for whom at least doublet chemotherapy is planned, it is necessary to perform molecular diagnostics (exons 2–4 of *KRAS* and *NRAS* genes, *BRAF* V600 mutations), which is a prerequisite for the addition of a biological drug and also provides prognostic information (unfavorable prognosis in patients with the *BRAF* V600 mutation) (I, A).

In disseminated disease, when radical surgery (including metastasectomy) is not possible, systemic therapy prolongs overall survival (I, A).

The median survival time in patients enrolled in RCTs assessing first-line systemic treatment over the last few decades has gradually improved, accounting for about 12 months for fluoropyrimidine monotherapy, several months for multi-drug chemotherapy, and up to over 2 years (multi-drug chemotherapy with a biological drug). The improvement of prognosis is significantly influenced by the possibility of using several lines of treatment, not only the type of first-line therapy (I, A) [15].

#### First-line treatment

In addition to the availability of individual drugs, the choice of 1st line treatment depends primarily on:

- patients performance status, comorbidities, biological age (IV, A);
- cancer dynamics, cancer-related symptoms, laboratory abnormalities and the degree of critical organs involvement (IV, A);

- tumor molecular characteristics (I, A);
- prior adjuvant treatment (II, B);
- patient preferences regarding the expected toxicity (V, A).

In patients without contraindications to more intensive treatment, at least two-drug chemotherapy with the addition of a biological drug is used as a rule (I, A). The choice of the drug added to fluoropyrimidine in first-line palliative therapy must take into account the type of prior adjuvant treatment (the preferred use of irinotecan in patients receiving oxaliplatin in adjuvant treatment) (I, B).

For some combinations of anti-EGFR drugs with chemotherapy, e.g. cetuximab combined with FOLFIRI or FOLFOX chemotherapy and panitumumab combined with FOLFOX chemotherapy, improved overall survival (median difference usually several months) was directly proven in phase III clinical trials [16, 17]. The prerequisite for the successful anti-EGFR treatment is the normal state of exons 2–4 in *KRAS* and *NRAS* genes in tumor cells., i.e. wild-type *RAS* genes (I, A). It is also important to confirm the absence of the *BRAF* V600 mutation (II, B). Anti-EGFR drugs should not be combined with regimens containing capecitabine (II, E).

Data on the value of anti-angiogenic drugs are inconclusive, although bevacizumab combined with IFL has been shown to prolong survival. The practical value of this observation is small due to the fact that the IFL regimen is currently considered suboptimal and should not be used (I, C). A meta-analysis of 7 RCTs shows that adding bevacizumab to chemotherapy containing irinotecan or oxaliplatin and fluorouracil used in prolonged infusions significantly prolongs progression-free survival, but not overall survival (I, B) [18].

Direct comparisons of anti-EGFR drugs and bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy give conflicting results. In the FIRE-3 study, a significantly improved overall survival was observed (median difference of about 4 months) in patients receiving cetuximab instead of bevacizumab with FOLFIRI chemotherapy, but there were no differences in progression-free survival and objective response rate (II, B) [19, 20]. In the CALGB/SWOG 80405 study, in which the majority of patients received mFOLFOX6 regimen, the advantage of cetuximab was not shown and the survival time was similar regardless of the type of antibody used. Retrospective analyzes taking into account the primary tumor location (left or right) may indicate a greater benefit from the use of anti-EGFR drugs than bevacizumab in patients with left-sided tumors, but this observation alone should not determine the choice of management strategy, as well as suggestions about a possible predictive value of some molecular factors (e.g. microsatellite instability, tumor mutational burden [TMB], molecular subtype) (IV, C).

The intensification of chemotherapy involving the administration of three drugs, instead of two, with or without the addition of a biological drug, does not have a clear effect on prognosis improvement (II, C), and is associated with increased toxicity. However, in some patients in very good performance status, but at risk of developing an organ crisis or with unfavorable prognosis (e.g. *BRAF* V600 mutation), such management (e.g. FOLFOXIRI  $\pm$  bevacizumab) may be the preferred option (II, B).

When used without a biological drug, irinotecan- or oxaliplatin-based regimens have similar efficacy (I, A) [21, 22], and the decision to select the type of chemotherapy should take into account the expected toxicity.

In patients preferring less intensive treatment, with poorer performance status, elderly, or with significant comorbidity a monotherapy with fluoropyrimidine (fluorouracil with folinic acid, capecitabine) (I, A). The addition of bevacizumab to fluoropyrimidine prolongs progression-free survival and overall survival (I, B) [18].

First-line treatment is continued until progression or unacceptable toxicity occurs (I, A). The value of de-escalation systemic treatment strategies has not been proven in well-designed RCTs (II, D). In particular, it has not been proven that pre-scheduled discontinuation of all oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy and its re-administration after progression is non-inferior to continuous treatment in terms of progression-free survival or disease control duration (II, D). However, the occurrence of oxaliplatin-specific toxicity (e.g. polyneuropathy) very often forces the discontinuation of this drug and the continuation of therapy with fluoropyrimidine alone (IV, A). However, it has been shown that treatment with the FOLFIRI regimen for 2 months, followed each time by 2-month interval is non-inferior to continuous treatment in terms of overall survival (an increase in the relative risk of death by 36% or more was excluded) (II, C) [23]. Data from studies with biological drugs also indicate that pre-planned discontinuation of chemotherapy and continuation of therapy with a biological agent alone may have an adverse effect on progression-free survival compared to continuous treatment or withdrawal of only one cytotoxic agent (II, D).

#### Second- and subsequent lines treatment

The decision to use the second-line treatment depends to the greatest extent on the patient's PS and the values of vital organs function indexes (IV, A).

The treatment regimen depends on what drugs were used in first-line therapy (I, A) [24]. The rule is to change the cytotoxic drug, i.e. oxaliplatin to irinotecan or vice versa, and administer it together with a fluoropyrimidine (if FOLFOX or XELOX was used in the first-line, then in the second-line FOLFIRI should be administered and vice versa).

For some combinations of anti-angiogenic drugs and chemotherapy (bevacizumab with FOLFOX, aflibercept with FOLFIRI and ramucirumab with FOLFIRI) a small effect on the increase in overall survival (median difference of approximately 1.5–2.0 months) was shown in phase III clinical trials (I, A) [25–27]. If bevacizumab was used in first-line treatment, continued administration of this drug along with switching of chemotherapy also slightly prolongs survival compared to switching chemotherapy alone (I, B).

In phase III clinical trials the addition of anti-EGFR drug to irinotecan-based second-line chemotherapy did not show an increase in survival time — only a slight increase in progression-free survival was observed (difference in medians of 2 months in the study evaluating panitumumab added to FOLFIRI and 1.4 months in the study evaluating cetuximab added to irinotecan) and an increase in objective response rates (25 and 12 percentage points, respectively) (I, C) [28].

In patients previously treated with fluoropyrimidine, irinotecan and oxaliplatin, the phase III EPIC study showed that cetuximab monotherapy prolonged overall survival compared to best supportive care (BSC) (difference in medians of 4.7 months) and improved quality of life (QoL) (I, A) [29]. The phase III ASPECCT study demonstrated that panitumumab was non-inferior to cetuximab and retained 82–130% of the overall survival benefit of cetuximab demonstrated in the EPIC study (I, A) [30].

In patients who previously received all available standard drugs, trifluridine/tipiracil and regorafenib slightly increase overall survival compared to placebo (difference in medians < 2 months) (I, A) [31, 32].

In uncontrolled phase II clinical trials in previously systemically treated patients with tumors showing the evidence of microsatellite instability or with impaired function of DNA repair genes, it was shown that immunotherapy with pembrolizumab or nivolumab, as well as nivolumab with ipilimumab, allows for 20–50% objective responses, the 1-year progression-free survival rate of approx. 70%, and overall survival rate of approx. 80% (III, A) [33].

In phase III study in systemically treated patients (approximately half of whom received irinotecan) with *BRAF* V600 mutation, the combination of encorafenib, binimetinib and cetuximab, as well as doublet therapy with encorafenib and cetuximab, prolonged overall survival (differences in medians 3.6 and 3.0 months respectively) compared to cetuximab in combination with irinotecan-containing chemotherapy (II, A) [34].

## Induction therapy in patients with potentially resectable liver metastases

Good direct response to systemic treatment makes metastasectomy possible to perform. The optimal

chemotherapy regimen has not been established, however, due to the desire to obtain a direct response, at least two-drug protocols are used. As phase III studies have shown that adding an anti-EGFR drug to chemotherapy increases the response rate, this treatment is also a good option in patients with liver-limited metastases (II, B) [35, 36].

Due to the possibility of harmful effect of long-term chemotherapy on healthy liver parenchyma, which may make it difficult to perform extensive resections, the operability assessment should be carried out quite early, after 2–3 months of treatment (IV, B).

## Perioperative treatment of patients with resectable liver metastases

RCTs did not provide clear evidence that perioperative treatment improves the prognosis in patients with resectable liver metastases. Borderline effect of FOL-FOX chemotherapy on PFS improvement was observed, but not on overall survival (II, C) [37]. The addition of an anti-EGFR drug to FOLFOX chemotherapy had an adverse effect on progression-free survival (II, E) [38].

However, the decision to use perioperative treatment may result from the need to postpone the second surgery (usually the primary tumor is removed first, followed by metastasectomy) (V, A).

After metastasectomy, adjuvant chemotherapy is usually used, as in stage III (preferably regimens with oxaliplatin) (II, B). The only exception are patients with metastases occurring relatively soon after post-operative adjuvant chemotherapy (V, D).

## 6. Post-treatment follow-up

The main goal of active observation of patients after completed oncological treatment is early detection of disease recurrence (local and/or generalized) and introduction of appropriate treatment. However, the current meta-analysis did not show that regular follow-up examinations prolong overall survival compared to less strict monitoring or no monitoring (II, C) [39].

There are numerous ongoing discussions regarding optimal patient monitoring regimen taking into account two basic requirements:

- the ability to detect an early and potentially curable relapse;
- the frequency of follow-ups according to the risk of recurrence.

The incidence of relapses in patients with stage I colon cancer and without other poor prognostic factors is so low that the dates and scope of follow-up examinations can be scheduled individually. On the other hand, in primary advanced cases, with no treatment options, or in patients whose clinical condition

#### Table 4. Long-term follow-up

Year		1			2			3				4		5		
Time since treatment completion (months)	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	24	27	30	33	36	42	48	54	60
Physical examination	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х
CEA	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Imaging of the abdominal cavity/pelvis <sup>1</sup>				Х				Х				Х		Х		х
Imaging of the chest <sup>2</sup>				Х				Х				Х		Х		х
Colonoscopy	X <sup>3</sup>			х										X <sup>4</sup>		

<sup>1</sup>CT preferred, US acceptable. In the case of CEA elevation, always CT with contrast *i.v.* 

<sup>2</sup>CT preferred, X-ray acceptable. In the case of CEA elevation, always CT with contrast *i.v.* 

<sup>4</sup>If the result is correct, the next examination in 5 years

is contraindication to any causal treatment (surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy), routine follow-ups to detect cancer recurrence are pointless. The general protocol of the proposed oncological surveillance is presented in Table 4 (V, B). It should be noted, however, that this is an intensive surveillance regimen which, if used, should also apply to patients at high recurrence risk (e.g. stage III).

Due to the possibility of synchronic diseases, a colonoscopy should be performed in every patient, regardless of stage, unless it was performed prior to surgery (IV, A).

## **7. Diagnostic and therapeutic management in special cases**

#### 7.1. Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP)

This is a disease associated with germinal mutations in the APC gene, inherited in an autosomal, dominant manner. In about 25% of families, the disease appears without prior history of the genetic burden as "*de novo* mutation". Penetration of the APC gene is almost 100% in both genders.

## • Diagnostic panel necessary to diagnose and stage the disease

- as in point 3;
- pedigree interview;
- genetic testing for mutations in the APC gene.
- Staging in case of cancer diagnosis
- as in point 4.
- Therapeutic management
- surgery: diagnosis of FAP is an indication for elective proctocolectomy, regardless of the presence or absence of concomitantly diagnosed cancer.
- Scheme of long-term observations
- in the case of confirmed colon cancer coexisting with FAP, the follow-up scheme is as in point 6 except performing a colonoscopy.

#### 7.2. Hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer (HNPCC)

This is the most common hereditary form of colon cancer, characterized by mutations in the *MLH1*, *MSH2*, *MSH6*, *PMS1*, and *PMS2* genes. This form of hereditary colon cancer is clinically known as Lynch I or Lynch II syndrome. Lynch I syndrome is characterized by the presence of familial cancer located exclusively in the colon. In Lynch II syndrome, malignant tumors occur not only in colon but also in the uterus, stomach, kidneys, pancreas and ureters, bile ducts and small intestine.

## • Diagnostic panel necessary to diagnose and stage the disease

- as in point 3;
- pedigree interview based on Amsterdam criteria and Bethesda guidelines;
- immunohistochemical tests of postoperative material for microsatellite instability and defects in DNA mismatch repair proteins.
- Staging in case of cancer diagnosis
- as in point 4.
- Therapeutic management
- surgery: there is no scientific evidence for the advisability of removing the entire colon, neither in healthy mutation carriers nor in patients with HNPCC. The resection extent depends on tumor location and stage.
- Scheme of long-term observations
- colonoscopy every 1–2 years;
- gastroscopy every 1–2 years;
- abdominal ultrasound every 1–2 years;
- in women, gynecological examination with transvaginal ultrasound every 1–2 years and determination of CA-125 level every year;
- others, as in point 6.

### 7.3. Cancer in a colon polyp

The margin of polypectomy resection is an important prognostic factor, although it can be difficult to assess

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Only if a full colonoscopy before surgery not possible

when the polyp has been fragmented. There is no uniform definition of a positive (infiltrated) polypectomy margin. The current European guidelines recommend that a margin of < 1 mm be considered infiltrated, as the presence of a tumor near the polyp resection margin is associated with a significant risk of residual tumor in the draining lymph nodes or the intestinal wall. If the resection margin is considered positive, surgical resection of the appropriate intestine segment is recommended, provided that the patient is fit enough to undergo such surgery — ACPGBI (B).

In the presence of cancer in the removed polyp, microinvasion of lymphatic vessels is associated with an increased risk of lymph node metastases. It most often occurs together with other unfavorable prognostic factors. If it occurs alone (without other poor prognostic factors), surgical treatment should be individually discussed with the patient — ACPGBI (C).

Low-grade cancer in a polyp is rare but is associated with a high risk of residual disease in the lymph nodes. It is usually associated with other risk factors for residual disease. If there is low-grade invasive cancer in a polyp, surgical resection of the appropriate intestine segment should be considered, provided that the patient is fit enough to undergo such surgery — ACPGBI (B).

## • Diagnostic panel necessary to diagnose and stage the disease

- as in point 3.
- Staging in case of cancer diagnosis
- as in point 4.
- Therapeutic management
- surgery: before commencing surgical treatment, it is necessary to mark the site of a previously performed polypectomy by performing endoscopic tattooing. Moreover, the operation should be performed in a center capable of performing the intraoperative colonoscopy.
- Scheme of long-term observations
- in the case of confirmed colon cancer coexisting with FAP, the follow-up scheme is as in point 6.

7.4. Colon cancer and synchronous, unresectable distant metastases

## • Diagnostic panel necessary to diagnose and stage the disease

- as in point 3.
- Staging in case of cancer diagnosis
- as in point 4.
- Therapeutic management

The optimal surgical management of primary colon tumor with coexisted persistently unresectable distant metastases raises a number of controversies, especially when the primary tumor does not show clinical symptoms. The most common complication in patients who did not undergo colon tumor resection before starting chemotherapy is gastrointestinal obstruction (8–29%). There are presumptions based on the results of numerous meta-analyzes and systematic literature reviews that resection of intestinal lesion in patients undergoing palliative systemic treatment improves the prognosis, but these analyzes are burdened with apparent selection bias (IV, B) [40]. Although surgery extends the time to start palliative chemotherapy, most patients can start systemic therapy, and primary tumor resection prevents some local complications (obstruction, bleeding). Therefore, the main challenge for the surgeon is to minimize the risk of severe postoperative complications, which could significantly extend the time to start palliative systemic treatment. Unfortunately, there are no reliable results of RTCs so far, which does not allow for a clear definition of the role of asymptomatic primary tumor resection in the treatment of patients with generalized colon cancer. The interim analysis of one study [41], including, however, twice as few patients as originally planned, presented at the beginning of 2020, indicates that resection of the primary tumor in the case of synchronous, unresectable metastatic lesions may not improve the prognosis (II, C).

#### References

- Wojciechowska U, Didkowska J. Zachorowania i zgony na nowotwory ztośliwe w Polsce. Krajowy Rejestr Nowotworów, Centrum Onkologii — Instytut im. Marii Skłodowskiej-Curie. Dostępne na stronie http:// onkologia.org.pl/raporty/.
- NCCS guidelines; colon cancer https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/.
- Beets G, Sebag-Montefiore D, Andritsch E, et al. ECCO Essential Requirements for Quality Cancer Care: Colorectal Cancer. A critical review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2017; 110: 81–93, doi: 10.1016/j. critrevonc.2016.12.001, indexed in Pubmed: 28109408.
- Schmoll HJ, Van Cutsem E, Stein A, et al. ESMO Consensus Guidelines for management of patients with colon and rectal cancer. a personalized approach to clinical decision making. Ann Oncol. 2012; 23(10): 2479–2516, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds236, indexed in Pubmed: 23012255.
- Lakkis Z, Manceau G, Bridoux V, et al. French Research Group of Rectal Cancer Surgery (GRECCAR) and the French National Society of Coloproctology (SNFCP). Management of rectal cancer: the 2016 French guidelines. Colorectal Dis. 2017; 19(2): 115–122, doi: 10.1111/codi.13550, indexed in Pubmed: 27801543.
- Adam R, de Gramont A, Figueras J, et al. of the EGOSLIM (Expert Group on OncoSurgery management of LIver Metastases) group, Jean-Nicolas Vauthey of the EGOSLIM (Expert Group on OncoSurgery management of LIver Metastases) group. The oncosurgery approach to managing liver metastases from colorectal cancer: a multidisciplinary international consensus. Oncologist. 2012; 17(10): 1225–1239, doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2012-0121, indexed in Pubmed: 22962059.
- Quenet F, Elias D, Roca L, et al. A UNICANCER phase III trial of hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis (PC): PRODIGE 7. J Clin Oncol. 2018; 36(18\_suppl): LBA3503–LBA3503, doi: 10.1200/jco.2018.36.18\_suppl.lba3503.
- Williams JG, Pullan RD, Hill J, et al. Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland. Management of the malignant colorectal polyp: ACPGBI position statement. Colorectal Dis. 2013; 15 Suppl 2: 1–38, doi: 10.1111/codi.12262, indexed in Pubmed: 23848492.
- Martenson JA, Willett CG, Sargent DJ, et al. Phase III study of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy compared with chemotherapy alone in the surgical adjuvant treatment of colon cancer: results of intergroup protocol 0130. J Clin Oncol. 2004; 22(16): 3277–3283, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.01.029, indexed in Pubmed: 15249584.

- Quasar Collaborative Group; Gray R, Barnwell J et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy versus observation in patients with colorectal cancer: a randomised study. The Lancet. 2007; 370(9604): 2020–2029, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)61866-2.
- Twelves C, Wong A, Nowacki MP, et al. Capecitabine as adjuvant treatment for stage III colon cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005; 352(26): 2696– –2704, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043116, indexed in Pubmed: 15987918.
- André T, Boni C, Mounedji-Boudiaf L, et al. Multicenter International Study of Oxaliplatin/5-Fluorouracil/Leucovorin in the Adjuvant Treatment of Colon Cancer (MOSAIC) Investigators. Oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment for colon cancer. N Engl J Med. 2004; 350(23): 2343–2351, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032709, indexed in Pubmed: 15175436.
- Schmoll HJ, Tabernero J, Maroun J, et al. Capecitabine Plus Oxaliplatin Compared With Fluorouracil/Folinic Acid As Adjuvant Therapy for Stage III Colon Cancer: Final Results of the NO16968 Randomized Controlled Phase III Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2015; 33(32): 373–3740, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.60.9107, indexed in Pubmed: 26324362.
- Grothey A, Sobrero AF, Shields AF, et al. Duration of adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018; 378(13): 1177–1188, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1713709, indexed in Pubmed: 29590544.
- Seymour MT, Maughan TS, Ledermann JA, et al. FOCUS Trial Investigators, National Cancer Research Institute Colorectal Clinical Studies Group. Different strategies of sequential and combination cherrotherapy for patients with poor prognosis advanced colorectal cancer (MRC FO-CUS): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2007; 370(9582): 143–152, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61087-3, indexed in Pubmed: 17630037.
- Van Cutsem E, Köhne CH, Láng I, et al. Cetuximab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: updated analysis of overall survival according to tumor KRAS and BRAF mutation status. J Clin Oncol. 2011; 29(15): 2011–2019, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.5091, indexed in Pubmed: 21502544.
- Douillard JY, Siena S, Cassidy J, et al. Randomized, phase III trial of panitumumab with infusional fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin (FOL-FOX4) versus FOLFOX4 alone as first-line treatment in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer: the PRIME study. J Clin Oncol. 2010; 28(31): 4897–4705, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.4860, indexed in Pubmed: 20921465.
- Baraniskin A, Buchberger B, Pox C, et al. Efficacy of bevacizumab in first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2019; 106: 37–44, doi: 10.1016/j. ejca.2018.10.009, indexed in Pubmed: 30476731.
- Venook AP, Niedzwiecki D, Lenz HJ et al. Effect of First-Line Chemotherapy Combined With Cetuximab or Bevacizumab on Overall Survival in Patients With KRAS Wild-Type Advanced or Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2017; 317(23): 2392–2401, doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7105, indexed in Pubmed: 28632865.
- Heinemann V, von Weikersthal LF, Decker T, et al. FOLFIRI plus cetuximab versus FOLFIRI plus bevacizumab as first-line treatment for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (FIRE-3): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(10): 1065–1075, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70330-4, indexed in Pubmed: 25088940.
- Colucci G, Gebbia V, Paoletti G, et al. Gruppo Oncologico Dell'Italia Meridionale. Phase III randomized trial of FOLFIRI versus FOLFOX4 in the treatment of advanced colorectal cancer: a multicenter study of the Gruppo Oncologico Dell'Italia Meridionale. J Clin Oncol. 2005; 23(22): 4866–4875, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.07.113, indexed in Pubmed: 15939922.
- Arkenau HT, Arnold D, Cassidy J, et al. Efficacy of oxaliplatin plus capecitabine or infusional fluorouracil/leucovorin in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: a pooled analysis of randomized trials. J Clin Oncol. 2008; 26(36): 5910–5917, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.16.7759, indexed in Pubmed: 19018087.
- Labianca R, Sobrero A, Isa L, et al. Italian Group for the Study of Gastrointestinal Cancer-GISCAD. Intermittent versus continuous chemotherapy in advanced colorectal cancer: a randomised ,GISCAD' trial. Ann Oncol. 2011; 22(5): 1236–1242, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdq580, indexed in Pubmed: 21078826.
- Tournigand C, André T, Achille E, et al. FOLFIRI followed by FOLFOX6 or the reverse sequence in advanced colorectal cancer: a randomized GERCOR study. J Clin Oncol. 2004; 22(2): 229–237, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.05.113, indexed in Pubmed: 14657227.
- Giantonio BJ, Catalano PJ, Meropol NJ, et al. Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study E3200. Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin (FOLFOX4) for previously treated metastatic colorectal cancer: results from the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study E3200. J Clin Oncol. 2007; 25(12): 1539–1544, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.09.6305, indexed in Pubmed: 17442997.
- Van Cutsem E, Tabernero J, Lakomy R, et al. Addition of aflibercept to fluorouracil, leucovorin, and irinotecan improves survival in a pha-

se III randomized trial in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer previously treated with an oxaliplatin-based regimen. J Clin Oncol. 2012; 30(28): 3499–3506, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.42.8201, indexed in Pubmed: 22949147.

- 27. Tabernero J, Yoshino T, Cohn AL, et al. RAISE Study Investigators. Ramucirumab versus placebo in combination with second-line FOLFIRI in patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma that progressed during or after first-line therapy with bevacizumab, oxaliplatin, and a fluoropyrimidine (RAISE): a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015; 16(5): 499–508, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70127-0, indexed in Pubmed: 25877855.
- Peeters M, Oliner KS, Price TJ, et al. Randomized phase III study of panitumumab with fluorouracil, leucovorin, and irinotecan (FOLFIRI) compared with FOLFIRI alone as second-line treatment in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010; 28(31): 4706–4713, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.6055, indexed in Pubmed: 20921462.
- Sobrero AF, Maurel J, Fehrenbacher L, et al. EPIC: phase III trial of cetuximab plus irinotecan after fluoropyrimidine and oxaliplatin failure in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008; 26(14): 2311–2319, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.13.1193, indexed in Pubmed: 18390971.
- Price TJ, Peeters M, Kim TW, et al. Panitumumab versus cetuximab in patients with chemotherapy-refractory wild-type KRAS exon 2 metastatic colorectal cancer (ASPECCT): a randomised, multicentre, open-label, non-inferiority phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(6): 569–579, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70118-4, indexed in Pubmed: 24739896.
- Mayer RJ, Van Cutsem E, Falcone A, et al. RECOURSE Study Group. Randomized trial of TAS-102 for refractory metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015; 372(20): 1909–1919, doi: 10.1056/NEJ-Moa1414325, indexed in Pubmed: 25970050.
- Grothey A, Van Cutsem E, Sobrero A, et al. CORRECT Study Group. Regorafenib monotherapy for previously treated metastatic colorectal cancer (CORRECT): an international, multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2013; 381(9863): 303–312, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61900-X, indexed in Pubmed: 23177514.
- Overman MJ, Lonardi S, Wong KaY, et al. Durable clinical benefit with nivolumab plus ipilimumab in DNA mismatch repair-deficient/ /microsatellite instability-high metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2018; 36(8): 773–779, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.9901, indexed in Pubmed: 29355075.
- Kopetz S, Grothey A, Tabernero J, et al. Encorafenib, binimetinib, and cetuximab in BRAF V600E-mutated colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2019; 381(17): 1632–1643, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1908075, indexed in Pubmed: 31566309.
- Folprecht G, Gruenberger T, Bechstein W, et al. Survival of patients with initially unresectable colorectal liver metastases treated with FOLFOX/ /cetuximab or FOLFIRI/cetuximab in a multidisciplinary concept (CELIM study). Ann Oncol. 2014; 25(5): 1018–1025, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdu088, indexed in Pubmed: 24585720.
- Ye LC, Liu TS, Ren Li, et al. Randomized controlled trial of cetuximab plus chemotherapy for patients with KRAS wild-type unresectable colorectal liver-limited metastases. J Clin Oncol. 2013; 31(16): 1931–1938, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.44.8308, indexed in Pubmed: 23569301.
- Nordlinger B, Sorbye H, Glimelius B, et al. EORTC Gastro-Intestinal Tract Cancer Group, Cancer Research UK, Arbeitsgruppe Lebermetastasen und-tumoren in der Chirurgischen Arbeitsgemeinschaft Onkologie (ALM-CAO), Australasian Gastro-Intestinal Trials Group (AGITG), Fédération Francophone de Cancérologie Digestive (FFCD). Perioperative chemotherapy with FOLFOX4 and surgery versus surgery alone for resectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer (EORTC Intergroup trial 40983): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2008; 371(9617): 1007–1016, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60455-9, indexed in Pubmed: 18358928.
- Bridgewater JA, Pugh SA, Maishman T, et al. New EPOC investigators. Systemic chemotherapy with or without cetuximab in patients with resectable colorectal liver metastasis: the New EPOC randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(6): 601–611, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70105-6, indexed in Pubmed: 24717919.
- Jeffery M, Hickey B, Hider P. Follow-up strategies for patients treated for non-metastatic colorectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019; 9, doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd002200.pub4.
- Simillis C, Kalakouti E, Afxentiou T, et al. Primary tumor resection in patients with incurable localized or metastatic colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Surg. 2019; 43(7): 1829–1840, doi: 10.1007/s00268-019-04984-2, indexed in Pubmed: 30903246.
- Kanemitsu Y, Shitara K, Mizusawa J, et al. A randomized phase III trial comparing primary tumor resection plus chemotherapy with chemotherapy alone in incurable stage IV colorectal cancer: JCOG1007 study (iPACS). J Clin Oncol. 2020; 38(4\_suppl): 7, doi: 10.1200/jco.2020.38.4\_suppl.7.